NO. 47646-1-II

DIVISION II OF THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SANDRA J. KEATLEY,

PLAINTIFF/RESPONDENT

V.

DUANE BRUNER,

DEFENDANT/APPELLANT.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Richard B. Sanders, WSBA #2813
Attorney for Appellant
Goodstein Law Group PLLC
501 South G Street
Tacoma, WA 98405
(253) 779-4000

I. INTRODUCTION

Respondent, Sandra Jo Keatley, initiated this action against appellant, Duane Bruner, for dissolution of a "meretricious relationship" and an equitable division of the property owned by each. Later, Ms. Keatley amended her Complaint to assert a claim for breach of contract referencing an "Earnest Money Receipt and Agreement", which she prepared for Duane's signature on March 22, 2005. The Trial Court ultimately dismissed that meretricious relationship claim as barred by the stature of limitations; however the breach of contract claim proceeded to trial that resulted in a decree ordering Bruner to specifically preform the purported contract ten years later by selling his two platted lots improved with his home and barn to Keatley for \$295,000. Bruner appeals that judgment.

Although the trial resembled a soap box opera more than a sober legal inquiry into the validity of the contract, the issues for this appeal are fundamental: Is a written contract for the sale of land valid and enforceable when it (1) has no proper legal description, (2) is not supported by consideration; (3) lacks material terms; (4) allows the potential purchaser an unlimited time to close the purchase for a set price with no obligation to ever do so; and (5) restrains the land owner from selling or alienating his property to anyone except that potential purchaser in perpetuity?

Bruner submits on its face the purported contract is void and no court is at liberty to alter or manufacture contractual terms not agreed to by the contracting parties, especially where the contract is governed by the statute of frauds.

¹ Also known as Committed Intimate Relationship (CIR).

As will be seen from a more detailed statement of facts, although the purported contract called for \$1,000 to be paid for "earnest money," Ms. Keatley never actually paid any money whatsoever.

Although an earnest money agreement typically imposes on the would-be purchaser a duty to actually purchase the property by a date certain or forfeit the earnest money, this purported contract imposed no duty on the would be purchaser whatsoever. The purported contract contained no provision for forfeiture of the (nonexistent) earnest money, nor any obligation for Ms. Keatley to purchase the property, ever. But the contract certainly created an obligation on the property owner to hold the property forever free from encumbrance in the event the would-be purchaser, Ms. Keatley, decided to exercise what the trial court found to be Ms. Keatley's "open-ended purchase option contract." Finding Q, CP 399.

Aside from lack of consideration, an improper legal description by tax parcel number and omission of other material terms, the contract on its face is void as an unlawful restraint on alienation of real property and runs afoul of the rule against perpetuities. There can be no specific performance of a void contract. There can be no damages for breach of a void contract. There can be no estoppel to allow enforcement of a void contract. The remedy is reversal of the trial court and dismissal of Keatley's cause of action.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

A. Trial court Finding F. in so far as it states "Shortly thereafter, Keatley paid Bruner the \$1,000.00 in earnest money called for by the contract", CP 397, is not supported by substantial evidence.

Issue:

Does the record contain substantial evidence that Bruner actually received \$1,000 from Keatley?

B. Trial court Finding M in so far as it states "Given the lack of a closing date, the Court will infer a 'reasonable amount of time' for closing and, under the circumstances of this case, Keatley's demand for closing is October 2010 was within a reasonable amount of time" CP 398 was entered in error.

Issue:

In a written contract governed by the statute of frauds which contains "all other essential terms" Finding G, CP 397, is it error for a court to "infer a 'reasonable amount of time for closing' when the contract imposes no such time limit on its face?

C. Trial court Finding G, "the contract contains a legal description by reference and all other essential terms", is not supported by substantial evidence and is legal error.

Issues:

- 1. Does a legal description of platted lots by only tax parcel numbers satisfy the statute of frauds?
- 2. Is a closing date an essential term?
- 3. Is a forfeiture or liquidated damage clause pertaining to disposition of earnest money upon default an essential term?
- 4. Do other missing terms as enumerated in *Sea-Van Investments v. Hamilton*, 125 Wn.2d 120, 128, 881 P.2d 1035 (1994) render the contract too indefinite to allow for judicial enforcement?

D. Trial court Conclusion A that "Bruner and Keatley entered into an enforceable written agreement under which Keatley would purchase and Bruner would sell the Chapman Road property for \$295,000.00", CP 399, is legal error.

Issues:

- 1. Is the agreement void for lack of consideration?
- 2. Is the agreement void for lack of a legal description?
- 3. Is the agreement void as an unreasonable restraint of the alienation of real property?
- 4. Is the agreement void in violation of the rule against perpetuities?
- E. Conclusion B that "Bruner breached this contract in October of 2010", CP 399, is an error.

Issue:

Can a party to a void contract breach it?

F. Trial court Conclusion F. "Keatley's breach of contract damages are \$205, 000.00 plus prejudgment interest at the statutory rate", CP 400, is error.

Issue:

Can there be damages for breach of a void contract?

G. Trial court Conclusion G "Bruner shall convey the Chapman Road Property, free and clear of all encumbrances, to Keatley, in exchange for \$295,000 not later than one hundred twenty days from the date when final judgment is entered" CP 400, is error.

Issues:

Can a court lawfully order specific performance of an "open-ended purchase option contract" to convey real property which is void?

H. Trial court's Conclusion G that "Keatley is the prevailing party in this action and is entitled to statutory attorney fees and costs", CP 400, is in error if reversed on appeal.

Issue:

If the trial court's judgment is reversed on appeal is Keatley the prevailing party?

I. The Amended Judgment of April 24, 2015, CP 409, is error.

Issue:

As above.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Although this is an action for purported breach of contract, Ex. 20, the trial had precious little to do with the contract. Rather, over repeated objections and a motion in limine, CP 335, from Duane Bruner's attorney, William Kogut, VR1-3² the trial devolved into a "she said, he said", rendition of a twenty year romantic relationship between the parties from 1982 through 2002. This has little or nothing to do with the parties' rights under the purported 2005 "contract".

The trial Court entertained testimony that the parties were high school sweethearts, VR1-41, and thereafter Ms. Keatley testified the parties spent much time together. VR1-46 He said she never spent the night. VR2-93, 99 She said she intended to build a life with Duane but didn't want to get married. VR1-46, 121 He said they were just boyfriend/girlfriend and there were no special commitments. She said he "cheated" on her. He said he saw other women and had every right to do so.

She said, they broke up in 2002. On this point the parties agreed. VR1-72

As to the "Chapman Road" property at issue here the parties agreed it was purchased by Mr. Bruner in 1995 with his own funds and then improved with a house, also with his own funds, and Ms. Keatley had no title interest in the property whatsoever from the inception. VR1-118, 121 VR2-91. The property consisted of two platted lots. CP 411-12; Ex. 66, 67; VR1-151

² VR1 is the trial transcript for December 2, 2014; VR2 is the transcript for the remainder of the trial plus the oral opinion of the court.

The record does show Keatley spent substantial time with Duane prior to 2002, and they did normal things a couple would do together. The trial court admitted all sorts of testimony over Bruner's objections seemingly having nothing to do with the contract issues such as Christmas cards, ex. 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, VR1-84, pictures of the Christmas tree Sandra said she cut herself and, of course, the faithful dog—whose primary allegiance between the two was never clearly established. Ex. 17, VR1-92

But in 2002 they broke up over allegations of another woman. Although the romantic relationship ended at that point they remained friends, he put her on his logging company payroll for some bookkeeping work she was doing, and allowed her to still quarter some animals in his barn.

Sandra desired to purchase the property and barn and acreage so in March of 2005 she typed up a one page "Earnest Money Receipt and Agreement" on her computer, printed it out and left it laying on Mr. Bruner's desk for him to sign after he filled in a blank for a purchase price. VR1-105-6 Without discussion and outside her presence he filled in \$295,000 and signed exactly as she had drafted it. This agreement is attached as Appendix 1 and is all this case is about.

Although the document references earnest money, there was no provision for the forfeiture of the earnest money and no requirement that she purchase the property by any date. She said she didn't put in a closing date because she didn't have the money VR1-107 and it was "something we'd work out." VR1-107 The only "legal description" was a tax parcel number and reference to 1176 Chapman Road in Castle Rock. And that's it.

The document on its face therefore allowed Ms. Keatley to wait as long as she wanted to close the deal, if ever, and required Mr. Bruner to keep the property available for sale to her, and not sell it to anybody else, until, if ever, she acted to close the deal. Unlike a right of first refusal, the sale price was fixed at \$295,000 allowing Ms. Keatley to obtain the property for that sum no matter how much the property appreciated, without recourse by Bruner--which is exactly what happened as the trial court found the value of the property had appreciated to \$500,000 by the time of trial. Finding O. CP. 398

She was in no hurry to close the deal but when the other woman moved her horses into the barn in 2010 Keatley demanded to close. VR1-110, VR2-90. Bruner refused, and Ms. Keatley sued.

The trial court Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law are attached as Appendix 2. For the most part the factual findings (except as to the payment of \$1,000 in earnest money) are in reality legal conclusions and should be reviewed as such.

Amongst other findings, the trial court expressly found the parties intentionally didn't provide a closing date, Finding H, and that had Bruner demanded closing sooner Keatley would have purchased the property. Finding N. CP. 398 The trial court expressly found: "Although they entitled the contract as an 'Earnest Money Receipt and Agreement,' the lack of a closing date, the uncontroverted testimony that the date was left open intentionally to allow Plaintiff time to finance the purchase of the property, and the parties' actions post-execution, establish that they intended to create an open-ended purchase option contract." Finding Q, CP 398-99

IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW

This was a bench trial which ultimately resulted in entry of Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law by the trial court. True Factual Findings are reviewed to determine if they are supported by substantial evidence. *Govett v. First Pac. Inv. Co.*, 68 Wn.2d 973, 973, 413 P.2d 972 (1966). Substantial evidence is such evidence that would persuade a fair minded person the facts were actually proven. *Holland v. Boeing Co.*, 90 Wn.2d 384, 390-91, 583 P.2d 621 (1978). Conclusions of Law are reviewed de novo. *Morello v. Vonda*, 167 Wn.App. 843, 848, 277 P.3d 693 (Div. 2, 2012). Legal conclusions couched as factual findings are reviewed de novo. *In re Welfare of L.N.B.-L.*, 157 Wash. App. 215, 243, 237 P.3d 944 (Div. 2, 2010); *citing In re Disciplinary Proceeding Against VanDerbeek*, 153 Wash.2d 64, 73 n. 5, 101 P.3d 88 (2004).

The burden of proof is on the party asserting the claim. To establish a claim against Mr. Bruner, Ms. Keatley has the burden of proving the existence of the contract, that the contract imposes a duty, that a party failed to perform that duty, and the amount of damages necessary to place the non-breaching party in the same position it would have been if the breach had not occurred. *Jacob's Meadow Homeowners Assoc. v. Plateau 44 II, LLC*, 139 Wn.App. 743, 162 P.3d 1153 (Div. 1, 2007). Washington follows the objective manifestation test for contracts; the terms assented to must be sufficiently definite and supported by consideration. In the absence of objective manifestations of mutual assent to terms supported by consideration, there can be no contract. *Keystone Land v& Dev. Co. v. Xerox Corp.*, 152 Wn.2d 171, 94 P.3d 945 (2004).

A court must inquire as to whether there is any basis for refusing to enforce the contract made by the parties or whether a party has asserted valid affirmative defenses to the formation of the contract. This inquiry leads the court into a consideration, among others, of whether there is before it (1) a statute of frauds problem, (2) a lack of contractual capacity, (3) an illegal contract, (4) a contract induced by fraud, mutual mistake of material fact, duress, or (5) a contract of adhesion.

Foster v. Knutson, 84 Wash. 2d 538, 544-45, 527 P.2d 1108, 1112 (1974); citing Williston on Contracts, §§ 450, 677A, 1487A, 1578A, 1602, 1617 (3d ed. W. Jaeger 1960). Then, and only then, does the Court examine the alleged contract itself "to determine what events and conduct of the parties the contracting parties intended, by their contract, to define their mutual obligations." Foster, 84 Wn.2d at 545.

V. ARGUMENT

A. Contract Lacks Consideration.

Assignment of error A challenges trial court Finding F in so far as it finds "Keatley paid Bruner the \$1,000.00 in earnest money called for by the contact" for lack of substantial evidence.

From the outset of the trial Bruner took the position that if there was a check there would be no evidence it was ever cashed. VR1-36. And there wasn't.

Ms. Keatley testified she left a check for \$1,000 with the written agreement on the desk, VR1-106; however, Ms. Keatly never testified the check actually cleared the bank. Ms. Keatley virtually admitted Bruner didn't have and/or cash the check because they were "friends". VR1-115 ("Q. Do you have any proof that Duane ever received or cashed that earnest money check? A. I don't know what he did with the check. I just assumed that we didn't need it because we were still friends.") Bruner testified he never received a check from Keatley. VR2-89

Moreover the trial court *found* Keatley actually needed "\$295,000 in cash" to close the deal, Finding R, CP 399, not \$295,000 less \$1,000 in paid earnest money to close. And the court concluded a decree of specific performance should issue directing Bruner to convey the property to Keatley "in exchange for \$295,000." Conclusion F, CP 400 And that's what the Amended Judgment said as well. CP 410 There was no credit for the earnest money because none was paid.

A contract not supported by consideration is void. Labriola v. Pollard Group, Inc., 152 Wn.2d 828, 833, 100 P.3d 791 (2004); Huberdeau v. Desmarais, 79 Wn.2d 432, 439, 486 P.2d 1074, 1078 (1971); Bogle & Gates, P.L.L.C. v. Zapel, 121 Wn. App. 444, 449, 90 P.3d 703 (Div. 1 2004) Here there was none. The finding is not supported by substantial evidence and must be set aside. Since Keatley bears the burden to establish a valid contract, the finding is implied in the negative. Bogle & Gate, P.L.L.C. v. Holly Mountain Res., 108 Wn. App. 557, 560, 32 P.3d 1002 (Div. 1, 2001); quoting Cahn v. Foster & Marshall, Inc., 33 Wn. App. 838, 840, 658 P. 2d 42 (Div. 3, 1983).

B. The court's finding of a "reasonable closing date" is error, but superfluous.

Finding M is the court's determination that a closing date in 2010 was "reasonable" for the contract executed in 2005. CP 298 However at most this is beside the point if the contract is void and pointless if it is not since the contract on its face allows Keatley to exercise her option anytime she wanted without regard to whether her choice was "reasonable" or not by some unknown standard. The court found the parties intentionally agreed by the written terms of the contract her election to exercise her option was not subject to any time limitation. Finding Q, CP 399

("...the lack of a closing date, the uncontroverted testimony that the date was left open intentionally to allow Plaintiff time to finance the purchase of the property, and the parties' actions post-execution, establish that they intended to create an open-ended purchase option contract.")

A court is not at liberty to write a contract for the parties they did not write themselves. Seattle Prof'l Eng'g Employees Ass'n v. Boeing Co., 139 Wn.2d 824, 833, 991 P.2d 1126 (1999) amended, 1 P.3d 578 Rather:

Under the rules of construction applicable to contracts generally, a provision in a lease giving an option to purchase will be so construed as to effectuate the intention of the parties where it is ascertainable from the language employed by them, and where the parties express without ambiguity their intention, no room for judicial construction is left and no court can alter their agreement, although the bargain is hard or unwise.

Union Oil Co. v. Hale, 163 Wash. 503, 505, 2 P.2d 87 (1931)

This is the applicable rule here. The court found these parties intentionally agreed to set no time limit for their own reasons and enforced the agreement as written. Also finding the option was exercised within a "reasonable time" is superfluous.

C. Other missing terms render the contract unenforceable and void

The trial court found (Finding G) "the contract contains a legal description by reference and all other essentials terms" to which appellant has assigned error C.

As to the legal description the agreement states: "Parcel # WK2713005 located at 1176 Chapman Road and adjacent Parcel# WK2713007. Total land being approximately 10 acres." The written agreement doesn't "reference" anything other than the two tax parcel numbers. Ex. 20 For the reasons set forth under Section D. 1. below, this does not meet the requirements of the statute of frauds.

Other missing terms include (1) time and manner for transferring title; (2) procedure for declaring forfeiture of earnest money; (3) allocation of risk with respect to damage or destruction; (4) insurance provisions; (5) responsibility for repairs, water and utilities, (6) restrictions if any on capital improvements, liens, removal or replacement of personal property and types of use and (7) a closing date (although the court found the parties agreed not to have one.) *Hubbell v. Ward*, 40 Wn.2d 779, 785, 246 P.2d 468 (1952).

These requirements are not specific to real estate contracts. They are necessary to form a binding contract to transfer title to real property:

It seems necessary to reiterate once again that negotiation, not litigation, is the proper method for agreeing upon these vital terms. Agreements to buy and sell real estate "must be definite enough on material terms to allow enforcement without the court supplying those terms." *Setterlund*, 104 Wn.2d at 25 The facts of this case demonstrate the very ambiguity which renders an alleged agreement unenforceable. There was no meeting of the minds here as to any of the material terms except for the price. This is not enough to form an enforceable contract for the purchase and sale of real property.

Sea-Van Investments v. Hamilton, 125 Wn.2d 120, 129, 882 P.2d 173 (1994) This agreement doesn't come close to supplying the necessary terms to constitute an enforceable agreement to transfer title to real estate. A court is not at liberty to reform a contract with missing terms entered into with the knowledge that the terms were missing although neither party is aware of the legal consequence of the omission. 1

Restatement of the Law of Contracts (Second), (1981), Sec. 156, Illustration 4, p.415.

D. Trial Court Conclusion A that this was an enforceable written agreement is error.

This is a conclusion of law which must be reviewed de novo.

This writing is not an enforceable written agreement because it lacks consideration (see A above), lacks a proper legal description, is an unreasonable restraint on the alienation of real property and violates the rule against perpetuities. The burden to demonstrate the contract is valid and enforceable is on the party which claims its breach. *Holly Mountain Res.*, 108 Wn. App. at 560

1. The contract is void because it violates the statute of frauds by failing to incorporate a proper legal description for these two platted lots.

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