No. 47646-1-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SANDRA J. KEATLEY,

PLAINTIFF/RESPONDENT,

VS.

DUANE BRUNER

DEFENDANT/APPELLANT.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

By MATTHEW J. ANDERSEN Attorney for Plaintiff

MATTHEW J. ANDERSEN WSBA #30052 WALSTEAD MERTSCHING PS Civic Center Building, Third Floor 1700 Hudson Street Post Office Box 1549 Longview, WA 98632 Telephone: (360) 423-5220

Fax: (360) 423-1478

Email: mjandersen@walstead.com

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

The question of whether the \$1,000.00 check was ever deposited by Bruner is irrelevant. Sandra tendered the earnest money as required by the contract. Bruner cannot nullify Sandra's contract rights by failing to deposit the check.

///

///

///

///

B. The contract contained an exchange of promises and, therefore, was supported by consideration regardless of whether the earnest money check was delivered.

Sandra and Bruner entered into a bilateral contract and, therefore, the exchange of promises is the consideration that makes it binding. The Division III Court of Appeals summarized Washington law on this point in *Flower v T.R.A Industries. Inc.*, 127 Wn.App. 13, 27, 111 P.3d 1192 (2005):

"The law recognizes, as a matter of classification, two kinds of contracts—bilateral and unilateral." Johnson, 37 Wash.2d 19, 23, 221 P.2d 525 (1950). "A unilateral contract consists of a promise on the part of the offeror and performance of the requisite terms by the offeree." Multicare Med Ctr. v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., 114 Wash.2d 572, 583, 790 P.2d 124 (1990). A bilateral contract is an exchange of promises. Govier v. N. Sound Bank, 91 Wash. App. 493, 499, 957 P.2d 811 (1998). The fundamental difference between a unilateral contract and a bilateral contract is the method of acceptance. Multicare Med. Ctr., 114 Wash.2d at 584, 790 P.2d 124. In a unilateral contract "the offer or promise of the one party does not become binding or enforcible [sic] until there is performance by the other party." Id. (quoting Higgins v. Egbert, 28 Wash.2d 313, 317-18, 182 P.2d 58 (1947)). However, in a bilateral contract, "it is not performance which makes the contract binding, but rather the giving of a promise by the one party for the promise of the other." Id. (quoting *Higgins*, 28 Wash.2d at 318, 182 P.2d 58).

In the case at bar, the undisputed evidence is that Sandra promised to pay Bruner \$295,000.00 and Bruner promised to convey to her the Chapman House. This is a bilateral contract and, therefore, the exchanged

promises are the consideration that makes it binding. The only dispute at trial was whether Sandra demanded closing within a reasonable amount of time.

C. Substantial evidence supports the trial court's finding that Sandra demanded closing within a reasonable amount of time.

Open ended option contracts and earnest money agreements are enforceable in Washington. However, the court will examine the circumstances of the transaction and place a reasonable time limit on the execution of the contract. *Foelkner v. Perkins*, 197 Wash. 462, 85 P.2d 1095 (1938) ("The agreement is also not rendered fatally defective because no definite time limit is fixed within which the property must be sold; under these circumstances the law implies a reasonable time for performance . . ."); *Merchents' Bank of Canada v. Sims*, 122 Wash. 106, 209 P. 1112 (1922) ("The general rule is that, where a thing is to be done, and no time is fixed, it will be presumed that a reasonable time was intended.").

The primary issue the parties placed before the trial judge was whether Sandra's demand to close in October of 2010 fell within a "reasonable amount of time" as inferred from the surrounding circumstances. Bruner argued that six months was a reasonable amount of time. Sandra argued that five and half years was a reasonable amount of

time. The court found in favor of Sandra and substantial evidence supports the verdict.

The trial court referenced *Thompson v. Thompson*, 1 Wn. App. 196, 460 P.2d 679 (1969), throughout the trial. In *Thompson*, the court of appeals affirmed a trial court ruling that twelve years was not an unreasonable amount of time in a real estate option case.

In *Thompson*, a father sold property to his son that included an option to purchase additional adjoining land for a fixed price. The contract fixed no definite time limit by which the son was required to exercise the option. The son attempted to purchase the property twelve years later and the father refused to sell, claiming that the option had expired. The trial court found in favor of the father and dismissed the son's claim for specific performance. The court of appeals *reversed*, stating:

If we were to construe this option as fixing no definite time we would be subject to the rule that it must be exercised within a reasonable time. Restatement of Contracts s 46 (1932). See also 91 C.J.S. Vendor and Purchaser s 4 (1955); and 17A C.J.S. Contracts s 632 (1963). What is a reasonable time is to be determined by the circumstances of the case. Considering the familial relationship, the apparent purpose of the parties that the parents live on the property as long as they desired and for the son and his wife to eventually take it and the "estate" language in the

option, we do not believe that the 12-year interval between the granting and the exercise of the option was excessive.

Id. at 201, 400 P.2d 679.

Sandra also cited *Lawson v. Redmoor Corp.*, 37 Wn. App. 351, 679 P.2d 972 (1984), wherein the court of appeals affirmed a trial court decision finding that eight years was a reasonable amount of time to exercise an open ended real estate purchase option.

In the case at bar, it was undisputed that Sandra had a deep connection to the land that was the subject of the contract. She had suggested that Bruner buy the land after her sister died so that it would "stay in the family." Sandra and Bruner enjoyed a twenty year committed relationship. They developed the property together and made joint use of adjoining land that Sandra owned. Sandra designed, decorated, maintained, and resided in that house. Sandra believed that she and Bruner had a monogamous relationship and she, as well as others in the Castle Rock community, saw Bruner as part of the Keatley family. While the bonds of blood or marriage may be missing from this case, substantial evidence supports the trial court's finding that a deep familial relationship existed between Sandra and Bruner.

Counsel for Bruner complains that the trial resembled a "soap box [sie] opera," but the semi-lurid nature of some of the testimony at trial was

Bruner's own doing. Bruner attempted to erase his twenty year history with Sandra by reducing her to a lovesick neighbor girl that, for twenty years, hung around as one of many women that he entertained. She cooked, cleaned, bought his clothing, ran his household, all without any expectations other than the occasional sexual encounter. This demeaning tactic took an ugly turn when Bruner admitted, for the first time in depositions, that he had slept with five other women over the twenty year period that he and Sandra were together. This, according to Bruner, showed that he and Sandra were nothing more than on-again/off-again paramours and, therefore, no familial relationship existed.

Alas, Bruner's testimony on this point only strengthened Sandra's case because his relationships with these five other women resembled secret affairs that bared no resemblance to his relationship with Sandra. He admitted to lying to Sandra about the other women, that all of the other relationships lasted less than a year, and that most of these women were married. He could only name one time that he had been seen in public with any of these women and that these trysts comprised entirely of meeting at a private location to have sex. [RP2, p101-13] In the end, Bruner looked more like a cheating husband than the Don Juan of Castle Rock, Washington.

111

The undisputed evidence at trial also established that Sandra and Bruner were of the same mind with regard to leaving the closing date open. Both testified that the purpose of doing so was to allow Sandra time to marshal the assets necessary to make the purpose. It is also undisputed that, at one point in time, Bruner wanted Sandra to have the house. He contracted to sell it to her for \$205,000.00, below market price, and gave her an open ended closing date. The only dispute at trial was whether a "reasonable time under the circumstances" was six months or five and a half years. Given the conduct of the parties before and after the execution of the contract, substantial evidence supports the trial court's finding that five and half years was a reasonable amount of time.

D. Substantial evidence supports the trial court's alternative finding that Bruner is equitably estopped from claiming that Sandra waited too long to demand closing.

Sandra also asked the trial court to find that Bruner was equitably estopped from refusing to sell her the property in October 2010. Sandra's testimony established that she repeatedly checked in with Bruner, both in writing and verbally, regarding the need to close on the sale of the property. Not once did Bruner tell her that she was running out of time, that the deal was off, or that he would not sell her the property. Bruner admitted this at trial. [RP2, p143-45] Bruner's response was always the same: "I'm in no hurry. I don't need the money." Sandra also testified

that had Bruner responded differently, she would have done what was needed to close on the purchase.

Equitable estoppel is based on the view that "a party should be held to a representation made or position assumed where inequitable consequences would otherwise result to another party who has justifiably and in good faith relied thereon." *Lybbert v. Grant County*, 141 Wn.2d 29, 35, 1 P.3d 1124 (2000). Equitable estoppel requires the proof of the following three elements:

- 1. An admission, statement or act inconsistent with a claim afterwards asserted;
- 2. Action by another in reasonable reliance upon that act, statement or admission, and
- 3. Injury to the relying party from allowing the first party to contradict or repudiate the prior act, statement, or admission.

Lybbert, 141 Wn.2d at 35, 1 P.3d 1124.

Substantial evidence supports the trial court's finding that Bruner lulled Sandra by assuring her that she could wait to purchase the property at a later date. After inducing Sandra to wait five years, Bruner reversed course and told her it was too late. This is exactly the sort of harm that equitable estoppel is meant to prevent.

///

111

E. Bruner failed to argue that the contract was unenforceable at trial and, therefore, is precluded from doing so on appeal.

At trial, Bruner did not challenge the enforceability of the March 2005 contract. The sole issue presented to the court was whether Sandra demanded closing within a reasonable amount of time under *Thompson v. Thompson*. In his opening statement, counsel for Bruner teed up the issue for the trial court as such:

And then [sic] contract just fails because it lacks an essential term, the time allowed for execution of the so-called contract. And again the earnest money agreement lacked that deadline, and case law will imply a reasonable time for exercise of the agreement. A reasonable time is not years but months. The plaintiff failed to act within a reasonable time.

[RP1, p35]

The first sentence of the above quote was the only reference at trial to the contract "fail[ing] because it lacks an essential term." The next statement by counsel concedes away the argument, and the case moved forward to trial on the issue of when was "reasonable closing date" under the circumstances.

For the first time, Bruner now seeks to attack the enforceability of the contract on the basis of (1) failure to include essential contract terms, (2) violation of the statute of frauds, and (3) unreasonable restraint on alienation/violation of the rule against perpetuities. The court should refuse to consider these new theories and defenses. The Washington Supreme Court in *Washburn v. Beatt Equipment Co.*, 120 Wash.2d 246, 290-91, 840 P.2d 860 (1992) stated:

The appellate court may refuse to review any claim of error which was not raised in the trial court. RAP 2.5(a). Arguments or theories not presented to the trial court will generally not be considered on appeal. *Hansen v. Friend.* 118 Wash.2d 476, 485, 824 P.2d 483 (1992); *In re Marriage of Tang,* 57 Wash.App. 648, 655, 789 P.2d 118 (1990).

* * *

While new arguments are generally not considered on appeal, the purpose of RAP 2.5(a) is met where the issue is advanced below and the trial court has an opportunity to consider and rule on relevant authority. *Bennett v. Hardy*, 113 Wash.2d 912, 917, 784 P.2d 1258 (1990).

In the case at bar, neither of these three issues were advanced below and the trial court had no opportunity to consider and rule on the relevant authorities.

(i) Statute of Frauds

Bruner never mentioned the words "statute of frauds" in his answer, pre-trial briefing, opening statement, mid-trial motion to dismiss, or closing argument. [RP1, p33-37; RP2, p16-26 and p181-88; CP 422 and 441] The court of appeals should refuse to consider this argument.

Furthermore, the statute of frauds is an affirmative defense that must be raised by an affirmative pleading. CR 8(C). The purpose of this

rule is to give the plaintiff an opportunity to raise and try all factual issues related to the defense. 1 Kelly Kunsch, Washington Practice: Methods of Practice, sec. 5.4, at 72 (1997); see also *Mahoney v. Tingley.* 85 Wn.2d 95, 100, 529 P.2d 1068 (1975) (certain defenses are required to be pleaded affirmatively in order to avoid surprise). In general, affirmative defenses are waived unless they are (1) affirmatively pleaded, (2) asserted in a motion under CR 12(b), or (3) tried by the express or implied consent of the parties. *Henderson v. Tyrrell,* 80 Wn.App. 592, 624, 910 P.2d 522 (1996). Bruner did not plead the statute of frauds as an affirmative defense in his answer. [CP 422] Bruner did not assert this defense in a 12(b)(6) motion nor was the matter discussed at trial, let alone tried with express or implied consent of the parties. Bruner has waived this defense.

(ii) Unreasonable Restraint of Alienation/Rule Against Perpetuities

Bruner never mentioned the words "restraint on alienation" or "rule against perpetuities" in his answer, pre-trial briefing, opening statement, mid-trial motion to dismiss, or closing argument. [RP1, p33-37; RP2, p16-26 and p181-88; CP 422 and 441] The court of appeals should refuse to hear this argument.

CR 8(c) specifically names neither unreasonable restraint of alienation nor the rule of perpetuities as affirmative defenses that must be

pleaded. However, CR 8(c) contains the following catch-all at the end of the list: "any other matter constituting an avoidance or affirmative defense."

Counsel for Sandra is aware of no Washington cases that specifically define unreasonable restraint of alienation and the rule against perpetuities as affirmative defenses. The courts in *Fieder v. Fieder*, 40 Wn.App. 589, 591, 699 P.2d 801 (1985) and *O'Leary v. Bennett*, 190 Wn. 115, 118, 66 P.2d 875 (1943) made reference to the fact that these arguments had been raised as affirmative defenses in those cases, but did not make a specific ruling on the matter.

However, unreasonable restraint of alienation and the rule against perpetuities fall within the definition of an "avoidance or affirmative defense." The Division III Court of Appeals in *Harting v. Barton*, 101 Wn.App. 954, 961, 6 P.3d 91 (2000), defined an "avoidance or affirmative defense" as "[a]ny matter that does not tend to controvert the opposing party's prima facie case." (quoting *Shinn Irrigation Equip.*, *Inc. v. Marchand*, 1 Wash.App. 428, 430–31, 462 P.2d 571 (1969)).

Harting was a contract case wherein the defendant alleged that the plaintiff failed to provide a notice of default and failed to submit to mediation as required by the contract. Neither of these allegations was contained in the defendant's answer. The Harting court found that both of

these arguments were covered by CR 8(c) and, therefore, were waived by defendant's failure to plead them.

In the case at bar, Bruner does not claim that the parties never had an agreement, nor does he claim, for the purposes of this defense, that he did not breach the agreement. Bruner alleges, for the first time on appeal, that the contract is void as a restraint on alienation and, therefore, it does not matter whether he breached it. Bruner's unreasonable restraint on alienation/rule against perpetuities arguments, therefore, constitute "avoidances." Since he has not pleaded these defenses in his answer, raised them in a CR 12(b)(6) motion, nor tried them to the court by consent, Bruner has waived these defenses.

The harm caused by Bruner's failure to plead or otherwise raise these arguments at trial is especially high with regard to the unreasonable restraint on alienation defense. A trial court's inquiry into whether a restraint on alienation is highly factual. Bruner's failure to raise this defense severely prejudices Sandra in that she was robbed of the opportunity to develop a factual record directed at this allegation. The trial court is also prejudiced in that it was deprived of the opportunity to make factual rulings with regard to this defense.

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